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Introduction 

 

This is a short history of the Carolina, Clinchfield & Ohio Railway (C.C. & O.) in Johnson 

City. This history is largely organized around various aspects of the Clinchfield that may be of 

interest to members of the E.T.&W.N.C. Railroad Historical Society. The Clinchfield, formed in 

1908, was the successor of the Charleston, Cincinnati, & Chicago Railroad (“3Cs”), Ohio River & 

Charleston Railway (O.R.C.) and South & Western (S&W) Railway. The E.T.&W.N.C. and the 

Clinchfield had a significant relationship and frequently served the same industries in Johnson City 

over dual-gauge trackage. A particularly interesting aspect of the Clinchfield was its extensive use 

of Mallet-type locomotives to haul long trains of coal. These large locomotives would provide an 

interesting contrast to the much smaller locomotives of the narrow gauge E.T.&W.N.C.  

  

The Clinchfield played an important role in the economic development of Johnson City. In 

1931, Clinchfield historian William Way wrote: “Johnson City has developed from a town of 5,000 

inhabitants in 1910 [when the Clinchfield began regular service through Johnson City] to a city 

with a population of over 30,000 [by 1931]. It is the site of one of the National soldiers’ homes, 

the grounds of which comprise an area of approximately five hundred acres; it is said to be the 

most beautiful ‘Home’ in the country. Remarkable industrial development has taken place since 

the establishment of the Clinchfield. The principal industries of Johnson City include a blast 

furnace, two iron foundries, two furniture factories, a hosiery mill, a knitting mill, four machine 

shops, a mattress factory, seven wood-working plants, a tannery, a cement plant, and a brick and 

tile manufacturing company.”1 

 

Additional information on the Clinchfield, with respect to Johnson City, is available in The 

Railroads of Johnson City, by Johnny Graybeal. I invite other members of the Historical Society 

to add any missing material to this document and discuss/correct any deficient interpretations of 
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the information at hand (particularly the dating and interpretation of photos). For those who wish 

to research the documents and photographs further, I have provided links, when available, to 

expedite such attempts. In general, I have left the original spelling (sometimes autocorrect strikes, 

so I am unsure that all of it is original). I wish to thank Chris Ford for his assistance and 

encouragement to bring this document into a presentable state. A list of open questions is given in 

Appendix A. 

 

Table 1. Partial Timeline of Clinchfield Developments Impacting Johnson City2 

Date Event 

1 January 1907 
“General Offices moved from Bristol to the Carnegie Building in 

Johnson City.” 

7 September 1908  “First train into Marion, NC.” 

3 February 1909 “Line completed from Dante, VA, to Johnson City.” 

2 October 1909 “Line completed to Bostic, NC.” 

24 March 1909 
“First coal train (25 cars) pulled by engine 313 [a Class H-4 2-8-0 

Consolidation] ran from Dante to Johnson City.” 

25 March 1909 “First train of coal (10 cars) arrived at Bostic, NC.” 

2 May 1909 “First passenger train arrived in Bostic.” 

12 September 1909 

“Upon completion of the shops and yard, the offices of Superintendent, 

Master Mechanic, and cart service agent were moved from Johnson City 

to Erwin.” 

29 October 1909 “The line was completed to Spartanburg…” 

1914 
“General Offices moved from the Carnegie Building to Love-Thomas 

Building on Ashe St. Johnson City.” 

1926 

“General Office building [in Erwin, Tennessee] enlarged… The 

remainder of the office force in Johnson City consisting of Legal, 

Claims, Purchasing, Treasury and Traffic were moved to Erwin…” 

1932 
“Passenger trains nos. 36 and 39 on the north end [which serviced 

Johnson City] were discontinued.” 

16 April 1954 “Last steam locomotive operated as a pusher from Kingsport to Erwin.” 

30 April 1954 
“Last passenger train operated No. 37 between Spartanburg and 

Elkhorn.” 
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Clinchfield Mallet Locomotives in Johnson City, 1909 – 1954  

 

  

1931. The Clinchfield Railroad, The Story of a Trade Route Across the Blue Ridge Mountains. 

“Slow Freight Trains (Third Class)… The slow freight trains are, for the most part, 

composed of coal cars. They are made up at Dante, southbound, and are operated as through 

freights to Erwin, where another train is made up, usually by number only, to handle the cars to 

Spartanburg. Numbers 16 and 18 leave Dante at 12:55 P.M. and 8:00 P.M., and arrive in Erwin at 

8:30 P.M. and 4:00 A.M., respectively… Northbound, these trains are operated as extras.  

 Four regular crews are assigned to work between Erwin and Dante, 101 miles, to handle 

empty coal cars to the mines and coal loads from the mines. Northbound, these crews pick up coal 

empties at Johnson City and at Kingsport, and set off empty coal cars at Miller Yard for the 

Interstate Railroad, and at Castle for the ‘Dumps Creek’ branch. These trains also handle any loads 

which may be in the Erwin Yard for Johnson City, Kingsport, or Miller Yard. Southbound, they 

pick up coal loads at Castle and Miller Yard, and set off coal loads at Kingsport and Johnson City. 

 Either one L-2 or an L-3 [2-8-8-2] Mallet locomotive is used on each of these trains 

between Erwin and Dante, except on southbound trains an L-1 [2-8-8-2] Mallet engine is used on 

the rear from Kingsport to Unicoi, 6 miles north of Erwin. The maximum load is 100 cars.”3 
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Figure 1. “Clinchfield 733 [apparently, this should read “734”] 2-8-8-2 Johnson City, TN 3-46”.4 
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Figure 2. “Clinchfield 734 2-8-8-2 At Johnson City, TN 3-46”.5 Engine #734, a Baldwin 2-8-8-2 Chesapeake (Clinchfield Class L-2), was built in 

November 1919, with an empty weight of 270½ tons. L-2 Class locomotives were used on “Slow Freight Trains (Third Class)… The slow freight trains 

are, for the most part, composed of coal cars. They are made up at Dante, southbound, and are operated as through freights to Erwin… Either one L-2 

or an L-3 Mallet locomotive is used on each of these trains between Erwin and Dante, except on southbound trains an L-1 Mallet engine is used on the 

rear from Kingsport to Unicoi, 6 miles north of Erwin. The maximum load is 100 cars.” This engine was retired on 1 September 1952. 
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Figure 3. “Clinchfield 734… 2-8-8-2 SB at Johnson City, TN 3-46”6 
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Figure 4. “Clinchfield 701 2-8-8-2 pusher on SB coal train Johnson City, TN 3-46”.7 Engine #701, a Baldwin 2-8-8-2 Chesapeake (Clinchfield Class 

L-1), was built in March 1919, with an empty weight of 262 tons. Based on previous Clinchfield practice, it was probably used to haul coal trains This 

engine was retired on 18 August 1950. 
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Figure 5. “4-6-6-4 Challenger steam locomotive No. 655 – After the 2-8-8-2s Clinchfield turned to the single-expansion 4-6-6-4 type during World 

War II. Alco built eight to a Delaware & Hudson design in 1942-43; an additional four in 1947 were CRR’s last steam locomotives. Engine 655 was 

from the first order.”8 Engine #655, an American 4-6-6-4 Challenger, was built in January 1943, with an empty weight of 303½ tons. Based on previous 

Clinchfield practice, it was probably used to haul coal trains This engine was retired on 1 May 1954. 



9 
 

 
Figure 6. “Clinchfield Engine [#655] at Bemberg,” However, it does not appear that this photograph was taken at Bemberg. Perhaps, this was taken 

adjacent to the Carnegie Addition, on the northside of Johnson City.9 See also figures 2 and 36; Figure 2 may also have the two smokestacks, shown 

here.
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1914. “Comparative Study in Operation – Virginian and C.C. & O.” 

“The Carolina, Clinchfield & Ohio began full operation from Dante to Spartanburg in July, 

1910. At that time the company bought 11 Mallet and 15 consolidation locomotives. The 

consolidations weigh 178,650 lb. on drivers, have a total weight of 199,150 lb. and a tractive effort 

of 43,882 lb. The Mallets weigh 325,850 lb. on drivers, have a total weight of 378,650 lb. and a 

tractive effort of 77,400 lb. Since the Mallets have been in service the results obtained in practice 

have steadily improved, and although dynamometer car tests made at first did not show that the 

engines could haul the loads that have since been hauled in practice, the locomotives are now doing 

the work for which they were designed. 

 The distance from Dante to Spartanburg is 242 miles. The road is divided into two main 

districts, one from Dante to Erwin [which includes Johnson City], 101 miles, and the other from 

Erwin to Bostic yard, 108 miles. There is one through freight (coal) train run southbound each day. 

It is handled with the following power: One Mallet from Dante to Kingsport, 58 miles; two Mallets 

from Kingsport to Johnson City, 27 miles; three Mallets from Johnson City to Erwin, 16 miles; 

two consolidations and two Mallets from Erwin to Poplar, 13 miles; two consolidations and one 

Mallet from Poplar to Alta Pass, 38 miles, and one Mallet and one consolidation from Alta Pass to 

Bostic yard, 59 miles. From Bostic to Spartanburg trains are handled by one Mallet making a round 

trip each day, but since trains are broken up at Bostic yard, and since about one-quarter of the coal 

traffic is delivered to connections at Bostic yard and at Marion, north of Bostic yard, it is the 

operation of trains between Dante and Bostic that we are principally concerned with. Going north 

the daily through freight train consists principally of empties and is handled with the following 

power: One Mallet and one consolidation from Bostic to Erwin; two Mallets from Erwin to the top 

of the hill at Unicoi and one Mallet from there north to Dante. 

 In addition to the through freight there are three local freights, one running between 

Johnson City and Dante, one between Johnson City, and Alta Pass, and one between Bostic and 

Alta Pass, each local running north one day and returning the next. These trains are run as extras 

and are handled with consolidation locomotives. The passenger service consists of two passenger 

trains daily north and one passenger train and one mixed train daily south. Thus the total number 

of freight train cars brought south loaded in the through coal train and in the mixed train just about 

balances the total number of empties that can be moved north in the through northbound freight 

train. 

 In 1910, when the Mallets were first put in service the gross weight of freight trains 

southbound, including weight of equipment behind the drawbar, was about 5,400 tons. Since that 

time it has steadily increased until in 1913 it was about 6,480 tons. The time between terminals for 

1910 varied from 14 to 15 hours on the Clinchfield division (the northern division) and from 13 to 

14 hours on the Carolina division. The time in January, 1913, averaged 12 hours and 33 minutes 

on the Clinchfield division and 11 hours and 30 minutes on the Carolina division. 

 It is probably correct to say that a large share of the credit for the very remarkable showing 

made in transportation costs in the face of an increase in fuel cost per ton, and the increase in wages 

is due to the progress that has been made in handling heavy trainloads over rather heavy grades 

with Mallet locomotives. The consistent and constant effort of the operating management has been 

directed toward the entire elimination of small train units in freight service. 

 The Carolina, Clinchfield & Ohio had this distinct advantage in introducing heavy power. 

It was a new road; it was built with the idea of utilizing the heavy power; enginemen and trainmen 

who applied for jobs on the Clinchfield knew beforehand what they were getting into, and there 

was no dead wood to be taken care of and there were no traditions of former managements which 

had to be overcome. What prejudice there was on the part of the enginemen and firemen to the 

Mallet locomotive had been almost entirely overcome. Enginemen today who have a choice of 
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runs on Mallets or on the consolidations, prefer Mallets, in part, of course, because their pay is a 

little higher; but at any rate this preference shows that a small difference in pay is enough to lead 

an engineman to choose a Mallet in preference to a lighter locomotive. 

 It has been the experience of the Clinchfield operating officers that under conditions such 

as are found on that road the successful handling of very heavy train units depends largely on, first, 

the education of the enginemen in the use of the Mallet and, secondly, on adaptation of the machine 

to its particular work. The Clinchfield was peculiarly fortunate in being able to obtain the class of 

enginemen that were capable of this education. The education was effected by degrees. No attempt 

was made to force men into taking out heavier trains than they thought they could handle. Men 

were induced, rather than forced, to gradually increase the number of cars in trains. Cooperation 

between the more capable enginemen, the road foreman of engines and yardmaster was obtained, 

and naturally the less enterprising engineer fell into line as time went on. It was a process that took 

patience and some tact, but the results have amply justified the effort. Furthermore the Clinchfield 

has had no difficulty in keeping enginemen and firemen, and the men are getting some of the 

profits of the success of the experiment in the form of high and very steady wages. The experience 

of the Clinchfield has been that one fireman can without any difficulty fire a Mallet on a 100 mile 

run with a 6,400 ton train On this run he shovels about 12 tons of coal, or something less than a 

ton of coal an hour. 

 The engines themselves are considered to be in better shape now than they were when first 

bought three years ago. They, like the enginemen, have been adapted to their work. At first 

considerable difficulty was experienced, but this has been overcome through minor changes. To 

mention but one of these changes as an illustration-when the engines were delivered they had 5½ 

in. nozzles; these have now been changed to 6½ and 7 in. nozzles, and a material gain has been 

made in efficiency. While not many of these engines have been put through the shops for full 

general repairs the expense of light general repairs has not been found to be heavy and the cost of 

the work on one engine that was rather badly damaged in a wreck was not at all excessive. All of 

the repair work is done at a small but quite complete shop at Erwin, where new modern machine 

tools are being installed as fast as there is need for them. 

 The Clinchfield has certain distinct advantages, but on the other hand it has many of the 

difficulties that the other coal roads have to contend with. Its grades are not so low as those of the 

Chesapeake & Ohio. The grades, however, on the Clinchfield are located so that a theoretical grade 

reduction is made by pusher service at a low cost. It has a number of 14 deg. curves and its coal 

cars have to be hauled northbound empty almost without exception. On the other hand, it has no 

old and obsolete power in operation. Its fuel supply is excellent Its standards are absolutely 

modern, and it has had the advantage of the experience gained in building other roads. Its water 

supply is exceptionally good and fully 50 per cent. of its water tanks are gravity tanks. The water 

is of very good quality and needs no treatment. The company has an unusually large supply of 

modern steel coal cars, which have been in service only a few years and have, of course, been very 

inexpensive to maintain as yet. They are divided as between 50-ton hopper cars and 50-ton 

gondolas, the larger number being hopper cars. Nearly all of the coal is handled in the company's 

own cars and the road gets an average haul on its coal of nearly the entire length of its line, about 

213 miles. The road’s relations with both the Southern Railway and the Seaboard Air Line, as well 

as with the Norfolk & Western, are particularly friendly, which is of material advantage in the 

interchange of freight and of keeping a full supply of cars on hand during times of heavy loading 

and getting a full utilization of surplus cars by lending them to other roads in times of smaller 

loading.”10 



12 
 

Steam Locomotives of the Clinchfield, 1908 – 1954  

 

 

30 June 1914 to 30 June 1916. Annual Reports of the Carolina, Clinchfield and Ohio Railway…11 

 

“Locomotives” 

Type 
Owned or leased 

June 30, 1914 

Owned or leased 

June 30, 1915 

Owned or leased 

June 30, 1916 

Mogul (2-6-0) 1 1 0 

Ten-wheel (4-6-0) 6 6 5 

Consolidation (2-8-0) 2 2 2 

Consolidation (2-8-0) 15 15 15 

Mallet (2-6-6-2) 11 11 21 

Pacific (4-6-2) 3 5 5 

Total freight and passenger 38 40 48 
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Table 2. The Predominant Wheel Arrangements Employed by the Carolina, Clinchfield & Ohio Railway during the Steam Era.12 

Wheel 

Arrangement 
Classes 

Number 

Procured 
Road Numbers Manufacturer Drivers Cylinders 

Clinchfield 

Service Dates* 

4-6-0 
G-1 1 99 Baldwin 63” 19 x 26 1908 – 1954  

G-2 4 100 – 103  Baldwin 63” 20 x 26 Until 1938 

4-6-2 
P-1 3 150 – 152  Baldwin 69” 23 x 30 1910 – 1951  

P-2 2 153 – 154  Baldwin 69” 25 x 30 1914 – 1953  

2-8-0 

H-1 1 34 Baldwin 49” 20 x 24 1908 – 1925  

H-2 3 35 – 37  Baldwin 50” 20 x 24 1908 – 1925  

H-3 (converted 

to 0-8-0 in 1917) 
2 51 – 52  Baldwin 51” 21 x 28 1908 – 1938  

H-4 15 300 – 314  Baldwin 57” 22 x 32 1909 – 1953  

2-8-2 

K-1 9 400 – 408  Baldwin 63” 27 x 30  1919 – 1943  

K-2 1 499 Baldwin 58” 23 x 30 1917 – 1952  

K-3 1 498 Baldwin 51” 22 x 28 Not found  

K-4 10 410 – 419  A - Brooks 63” 27 x 30 1923 – 1955  

2-6-6-2 

M-1 1 500 Baldwin 57” 23 x 35 x 32 1909 – 1938 

M-2 10 
510 – 519, rebuilt to  

550 – 559 in 1923  
Baldwin 57” 24 x 37 x 32 1910 – 1952  

M-3 10 600 – 609  Baldwin 57” 23 x 35 x 32 1916 – 1925  

2-8-8-2 

L-1 7 700 – 706  Baldwin 57” 42 x 28 x 32 1919 – 1950 

L-2 10 725 – 734  Baldwin 57” 39 x 25 x 32 1919 – 1952  

L-3 10 735 – 744  Brooks 57” 39 x 25 x 32 1923 – 1952  

4-6-6-4 

E-1 8 650 – 657  American 69” 22 x 32 1942 – 1954  

E-2 4 660 – 663 American 69” 22 x 32 1947 – 1954  

E-3 6 670 – 675  American 69” 21 x 32 1947 – 1953  

* Note, some of these locomotives came to the Clinchfield used, and some were sold by the Clinchfield and saw later usage with other railroads. 
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Table 3. Extract “Carolina Clinchfield & Ohio Railway Locomotive Roster”, Listing Locomotives Reported to have Operated in Johnson City.13 

Number Type 
R.R. 

Class 
Builder Number Date Cylinders Drs. Pressure T.F. T.E.W. Remarks 

52 2-8-0 H-3 Baldwin 27072 12/05 21 x 28” 51” 200# 41,160 89 tons 

Built for South & Western Ry 52, to 

CC&O 52 in 1908, converted to 0-8-0 

by CC&O in 1917, retired 9/1/38 and 

scrapped. 

100 4-6-0 G-2 Baldwin 33060 12/08 20 x 26” 63” 200# 28,000 82 tons Retired 9/1/38 and scrapped. 

101 4-6-0 G-2 Baldwin 33061  20 x 26” 63” 200# 28,000 82 tons Retired 9/1/38 and scrapped. 

150 4-6-2 P-1 Baldwin 34808 6/10 23 x 30” 69” 190# 37,140 117½ s. Retired 6/51 and scrapped. 

151  4-6-2 P-1 Baldwin 34809 6/10 23 x 30” 69” 190# 37,140 117½ s. Retired 6/22/51 and scrapped. 

301 2-8-0 H-4 Baldwin 33136 1/09 22 x 32” 57” 190# 43,882 100 ts. Retired 12/24/51 and scrapped. 

303 2-8-0 H-4 Baldwin 33138 1/09 22 x 32” 57” 190# 43,882 100 ts. Retired 12/24/51 and scrapped. 

305 2-8-0 H-4 Baldwin 33140 1/09 22 x 32” 57” 190# 43,882 100 ts. 

Sold to M.D. Friedman Co., 

Portsmouth, Ohio, for scrapped and 

shipped 9/28/53. Last 2-8-0 on 

railroad. 

306 2-8-0 H-4 Baldwin 33151 1/09 22 x 32” 57” 190# 43,882 100 ts. 

Sold to M.D. Friedman Co., 

Portsmouth, Ohio, for scrapped and 

shipped 9/8/53. 

308 2-8-0 H-4 Baldwin 33153 1/09 22 x 32” 57” 190# 43,882 100 ts. Retired 12/21/51 and scrapped. 

312 2-8-0 H-4 Baldwin 33181 2/09 22 x 32” 57” 190# 43,882 100 ts. Retired 7/31/51 and scrapped. 

499 2-8-2 K-2 Baldwin 37175 11/11 23 x 30” 58” 200# 46,500 130½ ts.  

Purchased in 1917 from the Cambria 

& Indiana RR #4, scrapped at 

Cincinnati, Ohio, 3/52. 

500 2-6-6-2 M-1 Baldwin 33551 7/09 23x35x32 57” 200# 70,640 171½  
First mallet placed in service. Retired 

9/1/38 and scrapped. 

655 4-6-6-4 E-1 American 70003 1/43 22 x 32 69” 265# 101,120 303½ ts. Retired 1 May 1954. 

701 2-8-8-2 L-1 Baldwin 51768 3/19 42x28x32 57” 200# 103,560 262 ts. Retired 8/18/50 

734 2-8-8-2 L-2 Baldwin 52450 11/19 39x25x32 57” 240# 101,560 270½ ts. Retired 1/9/52. 
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The Construction of the Clinchfield and its Facilities in Johnson City, 1908 – 1909  

 

 

4 June 1908. Johnson City Comet.  

 “Temporary Shops – Of C.C. & O. to be Completed – Trains to Run by September. Work 

will be resumed on the C.C. & O. temporary shops at Carnegie at once [see maps 1, 2 and 4]. The 

large wheel lathe is in position, and the building will be roofed over this week and next. 

 September 1st will probably see the road open for train service to Marion, N.C., and by 

November 1st, it is expected that the line will be completed with connection with the Seaboard Air 

Line at Bostic, N.C. When this is done, the large increase of rolling stock is use will necessitate 

much better shop facilities, and many more shop and repair track employes. 

It is semi-officially reported that the road will be in operation north to coal fields by January 

1st. In that event it seems probable that new and permanent shops will be begun early in the coming 

year. 

 The loss suffered by the road in last week’s flood was small, probably not more than $200 

in and around the depot. But for the efforts of Store Keeper Garth, about 75 cushion coach sets 

would have been ruined by water. As it was they were only slightly damaged.”14 

 

 

23 July 1908. Johnson City Comet. 

 “Track Being Laid. – The C., C. & C. About to Reach Marion Over its Own Rails. The 

track laying is about completed on the C., C. & O. between Johnson City and Marion, N.C., only 

about five miles remain to be laid and trains will be operated direct to Marion. This will be 

completed in a few days unless there is some unforeseen delay.” 

 

 

August 1908. “A Journey Over the C., C. & O.” by Colonel Fred A. Olds. 

“… The porter gravely announced Johnson City and as we cross a narrow-gauge railway it 

is pointed out as the line to the Cranberry iron mines in the corner of Mitchell County. General 

Robert F. Hoke being largely interested, a great deal of this high class ore is brought to Johnson 

City, where during the panic they have never stopped work. This little railway, 34 miles long, is 

the East Tennessee & Western North Carolina. At Johnson City station was an alfalfa field and a 

plant of the leather trust and the neatest, cutest, and tiniest Y.M.C.A. I ever saw, in a box car, 

painted bright yellow with a little portico and flowers and fairly shedding forth an air of welcome. 

It was labelled ‘Railway Y.M.C.A.’ I saw a field sown in cow peas, the first since leaving 

McDowell County. 

I had the pleasure of meeting most of the officers of the C., C. & O. at the handsome general 

offices. They were like all the under officials, courteous to the last degree, and very obliging. I told 

them of my trip over and they were warm in their congratulations and they asked many questions. 

I did not have the pleasure of seeing President George L. Carter, but Assistant Chief Engineer 

A.W. Jones and Mr. W.J. Steppins, engineer of bridges, were most kind and furnished admirable 

photographs which are used to illustrate their story of the ‘Rhododendron Route.’ 

There is a curiosity on the road four miles north of Johnson City, this being the largest fill 

in the world. It is at Knob Creek and is 1,500 feet long and 100 feet high. There is not to be a single 

trestle on this road. Everything is to be steel, concrete, stone or earth…”15  
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Map 1A. The Westside of the Carnegie Addition of Johnson City.16 
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Map 1B. The Eastside of the Carnegie Addition of Johnson City.17 
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Figure 7. This is the “Wilder Block” or “Wilder Building,” which housed the General Offices of the Carolina, Clinchfield & Ohio Railroad from 1908 

until 1914, apparently. It appears that this photograph was taken shortly after it was constructed in 1891 and 1892. This building was located west 

across Centre Street from the Carnegie Hotel.18 
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Figure 8. “The Carnegie Hotel [right]. The Carnegie Addition, located northeast of Johnson City, was planned and implemented by the Carnegie Land 

and Improvement Company led by famed Civil War general John T. Wilder. The lavish 125-room Carnegie Hotel, built in 1891 at the southwest corner 

of Broadway and Second (Fairview) Avenue for $125,000, was but one of the many features planned for this development, but much of it was never 

realized due to the Panic of 1893. The hotel burned to the ground April 3, 1910. (Frank Tannewitz Jr. collection.)” This view shows the south sides of 

these buildings, which face First Avenue and are separated by Centre Street.19 The buildings on the right side of the photograph, in the rail yard, appear 

to be those built by the 3Cs Railroad. The collapsed building, near the tree on the right, seems to have been the 3Cs depot, see Map 2. 
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Figure 9. A similar view to that given in Figure 8.20 
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Map 2. “South and Western R.R. Facilities Johnson City (Carnegie) 1907”.21 Note, the “S&W Office bldg.” is the “Wilder Block.”
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Map 3. Clinchfield Offices on the left and the Hotel Carnegie on the right, at First and Centre avenues, in December 1908.22 
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Map 3A. Detail of the “Wilder Block”.
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Map 4. Temporary Clinchfield Freight Depot and Machine Shop, with water tank and sand house, near First Avenue and Brush Creek, between Wall 

Street and North Main Street in Carnegie, in December 1908.23 These facilities were previously built and owned by the South & Western Railroad, see 

Map 2. This machine shop had been rebuilt in early 1908, after a fire destroyed its predecessor in February 1908. 
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Figure 10. This photograph appears to include the “old C.C. & O. Freight depot”, on the right side. Apparently, the plant in the foreground is the Hice 

Manufacturing Company or its successor, the Southern Bending Company.”24 
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Figure 10A. A detail of the Old Clinchfield Freight Depot.
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Figure 11. This photograph also appears to include the “old C.C. & O. Freight depot”, on the left side. However, the machine shop appears to be gone 

(perhaps of note, the 1913 Sanborn map did not include this machine shop). Also note that the Hotel Carnegie is gone (which indicates that this 

photograph was taken after 1910), while the “Wilder Block” remains in the center background. Apparently, the plant in the foreground is that of the 

Hice Manufacturing Company or its successor, the Southern Bending Company.”25 
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Figure 11A. A detail of the Freight Depot. 
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The Clinchfield Railroad, The Story of a Trade Route Across the Blue Ridge Mountains. 

“After crossing the North and South Forks of the Holston River, and passing through 

Kingsport, the line of the [Clinchfield] railroad breaks across the various ridges and valleys which 

slope in a northeasterly direction to the Watauga River, and finally reaches Johnson City. Just 

north of Johnson City, the road passes through its longest cut, called Soldiers’ Home cut. It is 3,000 

feet long, and has a maximum depth of 85 feet. In its excavation, there was involved the removal 

of about 500,000 cubic yards of earth. The material was hauled several miles to Knob Creek fill, 

2,700 feet long...”26 

 

 

10 September 1908. Johnson City Comet.  

“C., C. & O. Ask Permission to Construct its Lines Across the Streets. There is every 

evidence that the C., C. & O. railroad is preparing to build its line through the city. At a meeting 

of the city council Monday night Attorney J. Norment Powell, general counsel for the road, asked 

the city to grant the road the privilege of crossing all streets and alleys running north and south 

between the Sloan land, Oak Veneer mills and the Harris Mfg. Co. He also asked the privilege of 

closing certain streets, if ever dedicated as such, and opening others in their stead, and of widening 

other streets, and asked the city to assist in this process by purchasing or condemning a ten-foot 

strip on one side of Cherry street, by agreeing to give the same amount on the other side, making 

the street 50 feet wide. The railroad will swing down through the Joe Lyle farm and parallel the 

Southern to the foundry and then parallel the Narrow Gauge to the present operated track at the 

junction. Special ordinances were presented to carry out the requests and were passed upon their 

first reading. With some modifications and safeguards they will pass in due season and active work 

on the construction of the line through the city will begin and all the buildings from the foundry to 

the Harris factory will be razed to make way for the main line and side tracks.” 

 

 

1 October 1908. The Johnson City Comet. 

 “Rapid Railroad Work. – The C.C. & O. Coming Up Town a Hit with Travelers – Boones 

Creek Bridge Delivered. Beginning last Saturday the Carolina, Clinchfield and Ohio railroad has 

been running its trains into the city over the E.T. & W.N.C.R.R. Co.’s tracks and it is a great 

convenience to the traveling public. The trains arrive and depart from the union station on Buffalo 

street. The C., C. & O. is using the little brick building on Cherry and Buffalo streets near the big 

spring for a ticket office. It will be only a short time until the freight depot will be moved up town 

also. It is understood that the building now occupied by Stevens Bros. on Spring street will be used 

for a temporary depot. That there is something doing in railroad circles no one can doubt. As soon 

as the board of aldermen decides to let the company use Cherry street for its main line it will not 

be long until the line will be connected through the city and the buildings between Cherry street 

and the Narrow Gauge road will be torn away to make room for the yard tracks. Already occupants 

of many buildings have been notified to vacate the property for that purpose.” 

 

 

8 October 1908. Johnson City Comet. 

 “Passed Third Reading. – The Board of Aldermen Grant the C., C. & O. Certain Privileges 

and Property Rights. The board of aldermen met last night to consider the ordinance granting the 

C., C. & O. railroad the right to cross all streets between West street, near the Standard Oak plant, 

and Grover street, near the Harris Mfg. Co., and to close Cherry street…” 
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8 October 1908. Johnson City Comet.   

 “Tuesday morning a No. 60 steam shovel was sidetracked at the intersection of Roan street 

and the E.T. & W.N.C. Ry. right of way and just before noon it began dipping the earth from the 

front of the old E.C. Reeves property and has since been making rapid progress down the line in 

front of that row of houses toward Spring street and thence to Buffalo street to a connection with 

the line built to that point. Only one track will be put down just now and it will be used as the main 

line through the city and later as an industrial line reaching factory sites and wholesale houses. The 

company is asking permission to use Cherry street for tracks and will use all of the land lying 

between Cherry street and the E.T. & W.N.C. road for side tracks and yards. It looks good to our 

people who have waited twenty-two years for it to happen, and it will not be long until the great 

connecting link from coal to coast will be a reality.” 

 

 

15 October 1908. Johnson City Comet.   

 “Work Progressing on Industrial Line. The C., C. & O. line through the city is progressing 

rapidly. The steam shovel finished the excavation from Roan street to the big spring Tuesday and 

is now working east of Division street. In order to get the road properly located east of Roan street 

it was necessary to purchase a strip of land from the Watauga Tannery for the purpose of shifting 

the tracks of the E.T. & W.N.C.R.R. 37 feet north and this give the C., C. & O. room to lay its 

track directly parallel with it as far out as the present crossing. The entire line through the city is 

covered with men and it soon will be completed. Buildings along the route are being torn away 

and the giant oaks at the big spring have given way to the woodman’s axe and the spring will soon 

be closed to the eye of man and the foot of goose forever. Orders have been issued for the razing 

of 31 houses at once that are in the way of the tracks through the city.” 

 

 

 
Figure 12. “This view of the Johnson City Foundry & Machine Shop dates from approximately 

1885, when the facility was new. The track in the foreground appears to be five-foot gauge, which 

was converted to standard gauge in 1886. This building was removed in 1909 to make room for 

the CC&O RR depot. Courtesy Clifford Maxwell Collection, Archives of Appalachia, ETSU.”27  
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Map 5. West of Downtown Johnson City.28 
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Map 6. Downtown Johnson City.29 
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Map 7. This map, from December 1908, shows the buildings in the area bounded by Buffalo and New streets (east to west) and Jobe and Ash streets 

(north to south), near where the Clinchfield depot will be built in 1909. Perhaps of some interest is a stock pen (at the corner of New and Cherry streets) 

on the left of the map. The Johnson City Foundry & Machine Works, in the center of the map, is labeled “To Be Removed.”30 
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Map 8. A comparison of this map, from July 1913, with Map 7 (above), shows the impact that the construction of the Clinchfield Railroad had on this 

area. Perhaps the most noticeable impact was the displacement of the Johnson City Foundry and Machine Works to West Walnut Street.31 
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Map 9. This map, from December 1908, shows the buildings in the area bounded by Roan and Buffalo (east to west) and  

Jobe and Ash streets (north to south), east of where the Clinchfield depot will be built.32  
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Map 10. A comparison of this map, from July 1913, with Map 9 (above), shows the impact that the construction of the Clinchfield Railroad had on this 

area, which resulted in the removal of all of the buildings (but one) in the area bounded by Roan and Buffalo (east – west) and Jobe and Cherry streets 

(north – south).33 
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14 January 1909. Johnson City Comet.  

 “C.C. & O. Building in City. – More Than One Hundred Men are Now Employed – 

Constructing the Line on Jobe Street Through the City and Expect to Operate it this Month. – The 

building of the C., C. & O. main line through the city, adjoining the tracks of the E.T. & W.N. Ry., 

is being rushed to completion. This line of track runs from the ‘Y’ near Exum’s factory, where it 

joins the old line, which runs from Carnegie through the city to a point near the Soldiers Home. 

More than a hundred men are busy laying crossties and rails, tearing down and moving all 

the old frame buildings on Jobe street, rushing it to completion to be in readiness for the through 

passenger train service which will be put on by the 20 of this month, which will run from Dante, 

Va., to Bostic, N.C. This long demand of and much talked about road is soon to be a reality. 

 Just think of the opening up of such excellent country lying north and northwest of us by a 

trunk line railroad, giving to us a long coveted trade is indeed a favor to be heralded with brass 

bands and symbols. 

 Not long until we can have competition of commodities from the west. Cincinnati and its 

tributary districts compete with Baltimore and the east, while the territory for our own jobbing 

houses will be doubled and with a proportionate increase in their business. 

The developing of the coal mines, the bringing to our doors of cheaper fuel, the opening of 

vast new and untouched virgin forests. Timber by the millions of feet, timber in plenty for years 

to come – what great opportunities are ours. For the man with money to develop such offerings as 

these he become fabulously rich. Such opportunities are rare indeed. The hand of genius has been 

laid upon this section, and the whirring, buzzing, throbbing, pulsing trade of commerce will soon 

hold high carnival with Alladin and his wonderful treasure.  

 Already the lines of the E.T. & W.N.C. Ry. are choked with the traffic and the cars of the 

C., C. & O. hauling material for building the properties of Mr. Carter. When this section is finished, 

the properties of the Unaka Corporation will begin to be developed…” 

 

 

21 January 1909. Johnson City Comet.   

 “The old livery barn on Cherry street has been torn down to make room for the tracks of 

the C., C. & O. This does the march of eternal progress push onward.” See Map 9. 

 

25 March 1909. Johnson City Comet. 

 “Formal Opening of the Clinchfield Road. Official announcement has been made by J.J. 

Cameron, traffic manager of the Carolina, Clinchfield and Ohio railway, of the formal opening of 

the line for traffic on March 22. 

 The completed line extends from Dante, Va., to Bostic, N.C., a distance of 211 miles. 

 Connections are made at Johnson City, Tenn., and Marion, N.C., with the Southern 

Railway, and at Bostic, N.C., with the Seaboard Air Line Railway, through which roads its 

immense coal tonnage will be distributed throughout the south. 

 The line is shorter by more than one hundred miles of other existing lines.” 

 

25 March 1909. Johnson City Comet.  

 “Will Build Freight Depot – The C., C. & O. Railway has Begun Work on its Big Freight 

Depot in the City. The mammoth freight depot for the Carolina, Clinchfield & Ohio Railway in 

this city has been staked off and John Pettyjohn & Co. contractors, are at work getting the site in 

condition for the foundation. The building is to be forty feet wide on Buffalo street and 200 feet 

on Cherry street and will be of brick and concrete with spacious platforms for handling freight 

from cars on one side and wagons on the other. It will be modern in all of its equipment and 

practically fire proof.” See Map 8 and figures 14 to 20. 
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Clinchfield Passenger Train Operations in Johnson City, 1908 – 1951  

 

 

 
Figure 13. Johnson City Comet, 15 October 1908. For later timetables, see Appendix B. 
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8 September 1908. The Clinchfield Railroad, The Story of a Trade Route Across the Blue Ridge 

Mountains. 

“Regular train service was inaugurated between Johnson City and Marion on September 8, 

1908, a distance of 98 miles. The lines northward from Johnson City to Dante… were expected to 

be opened to traffic by February, 1909…”34 

 

 

10 September 1908. The Johnson City Comet.  

 “Trains Now Go Through to Marion. Last Monday the new passenger schedule from 

Johnson City to Marion, N.C., on the C., C. & O. was inaugurated. The first train made the round 

trip without event and returned just 2 minutes behind schedule. 

 

 

24 September 1908. The Johnson City Comet. 

 “Notice to the Traveling Public – On and after Saturday, September 26, 1908, the Carolina, 

Clinchfield and Ohio railway will operate its passenger trains from Johnson City, Tenn., over the 

tracks of the East Tennessee and Western North Carolina railroad. 

 Carnegie will be closed as a passenger station, and trains will start from and arrive at depot, 

corner of Cherry and Buffalo streets, opposite Southern Ry. depot, on same time they are scheduled 

to leave from and arrive at Carnegie. 

 John A. Muse, Acting General Passenger Agent.” 

 

 

24 December 1908. The Johnson City Comet. 

 “The Carolina, Clinchfield and Ohio railroad finished its line into and through this city and 

moved its passenger station from Carnegie to a location near the Southern depot, and before the 

years closes passenger trains will be running from Dante, Va., to Bostic, N.C.” 

 

 

May 1910. The Official Railway Equipment Register. 

By May 1910, the Clinchfield operated about 248 miles of railroad, with 33 locomotives. 

“Southern Express Co. operates over this line. No Sleeping Car Co. operating over this line.”35 

 

Table 4. “Passenger Equipment.” 

Kind of Cars. Numbers. No. 

Coach 8,10, 100 to 111 14 

Combination 15, 20, 770, 771, 889, 700 to 705 11 

Observation 80 1 

Express 699 1 

Private 1 and 2 2 

Total  29 
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30 June 1915. Fifth Annual Reports – Carolina, Clinchfield and Ohio Railway…36 

 

Passenger Cars 

Owned and In Service Construction 
Year Ended 

June 30, 1914 

Year Ended 

June 30, 1915 

Combination, baggage and mail All steel 6 6 

Combination, baggage and 

express 

Wooden 1 1 

Steel underframe 2 2 

Coaches 
Wooden 1 1 

Vestibule and underframe 24 24 

Observation  1 1 

Business  2 2 

Total  37 37 

 

 

June 1917. The Official Railway Equipment Register. 

 By June 1917, the Clinchfield operated about 300 miles of railroad, with 52 locomotives. 

“Southern Express Co. operates over this line. No Sleeping Car Co. operating over this line.”37 

 

Table 5. Passenger Equipment 

M.C.B. 

Designation. 
Kind. 

Series of 

Numbers. 

Seating 

Cap’cty 
Length of Car. No. 

PB 
Coach, Vestibule, Steel 

Underframe 
100 to 111 Under 70 60 ft. & under 70 ft. 12 

PB 
Coach, Vestibule, Steel 

Underframe 
120 to 131 70 to 86 70 ft. & under 80 ft. 12 

MB Bagg. & Mail, All Steel 700 to 705  60 ft. & under 70 ft. 6 

BE 
Baggage, Express, Stl. 

Undfr. 
770, 771  60 ft. & under 70 ft. 2 

BX Express, Wooden 689, 699   2 

PV Business 1, 2   2 

 Total    36 

 

 

Table 6. Some of the Clinchfield Passenger Trains and Their Available Dates of Operation.38 

Southbound  Northbound 

Train # Dates Train # Dates 

1 1908 – 1912 2 1908 – 1912 

3 1909 – 1912 4 1909 – 1912 

5 1909 – 1912 6 1909 – 1912 

7 1909 8 1909 

9 1909 10 1909 

37 1925 – 1954 36 1925 – 1932 

39 1925 – 1932 38 1925 – 1931 
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1931. The Clinchfield Railroad, The Story of a Trade Route Across the Blue Ridge Mountains. 

“Passenger Trains (First Class)… At Johnson City, the following connections are 

maintained with the Southern Railway: Clinchfield train number 36 connects with a train to 

Bristol; number 37, with trains to and from New York City, via Lynchburg and Roanoke, and with 

a train to Knoxville; number 38 connects with trains to and from New York, and from Knoxville; 

number 39 connects with trains to and from Bristol... the Pacific type [4-6-2 engines are used] 

north of Erwin…”39  

 

 

 
Figure 14. This photograph shows the C.C. & O. depot, with the Summers-Parrott Hardware building behind it 

on the left side. The Love-Thomas office building is on the right side of this photograph. This view looks south 

along Buffalo Street, with the E.T. & W.N.C. depot just out of the photograph to the right. Also, note the trolley 

tracks along Buffalo Street.40 
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Figure 14A. A detail of the C.C. & O. Railway Depot.
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Figure 15. This photograph, looking southwest, shows the trolley tracks on Buffalo Street and dual-gauge trackage, with the Clinchfield platform in 

the background.41 Note the Love-Thomas office building on the middle background of this photograph. 
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Figure 16. Clinchfield depot.42 
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Figure 17. “C.C. & O. Depot.”43 
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Figure 18. “Clinchfield Depot” in 1974.44 
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Figure 19. The Clinchfield Depot, with the Summers-Parrott Hardware building to the left. This photograph was dated July 1974.45 
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Figure 20. “CC&O Depot. The depot, located at 300 Buffalo Street and now restored as the Tupelo Honey Café, was built in 1908 with two sections: 

a two-story passenger station and a one-story freight house/depot. The depot was used as a passenger station until 1955 and as a yard office until the 

1970s. Listed in the National Register of Historic Places in 2008, it is the only intact depot of the three railroads in town. (Frank Tannewitz Jr. 

collection.)”46 
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Map 11. This map shows the relationship between the E.T. & W.N.C. Depot (top), the new Clinchfield Depot (middle), the Summers-

Parrott Hardware building (lower right) and the Love-Thomas building (lower left), in July 1913.47 This map is the same as Map 8, it is 

duplicated here for the convenience of the reader.
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Map 11A. The Clinchfield Depot. 
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Figure 21. Clinchfield Engine #151 “Clinchfield Railway Platform”.48 Historian Johnny Graybeal captioned this photograph: “A northbound passenger 

train has stopped at the CC&O depot in the late Thirties. By this point, only one passenger train ran each way per day on the Clinchfield. The Clinchfield 

tracks through Johnson City were in a gradual curve, and even the covered platform had a curve built into it. Courtesy Alan Bridwell, Johnson City 

Economic Development Board.”49 Note the Free Tire Service Company building in the left background, which opened in June 1919. 
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Figure 22. “Clinchfield Railway No. 150”.50 Notice the E.T. & W.N.C. freight depot in the left background. 
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Map 12. This map shows the relationship between the E.T. & W.N.C. Depot (top), the new Clinchfield Depot (middle), the Summers-

Parrott Hardware building (lower right) and the Love-Thomas building (lower left), in February 1920.51 
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Map 12A. Details of the Clinchfield Depot.
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Figure 23. “Clinchfield Railway No. 150” pulling a northbound passenger train, apparently passing the Harris Manufacturing plant. 

Note that all of the trackage appears to be standard gauge.52 Engine #150, a Baldwin 4-6-2 Pacific, was built in June 1910, with an empty 

weight of 117½ tons. The Clinchfield employed Pacific type engines in passenger service north of Erwin, Tennessee. This engine was 

retired in June 1951 and scrapped. 
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Figure 24. “August 31, 1941. Northbound [passenger] train 37 [wrong number? Should be even numbered for a northbound passenger 

train?] with class P-1 150 is approaching Johnson City, TN station. Interchange between the standard gauge Clinchfield and the 3 feet 

gauge East Tennessee and Western North Carolina Railroad is performed here. Notice the 3-rail tracks on the left.” “Phil Laws 

Collection”.53 Also note the Sterchi Brothers Furniture warehouse in the left background, which was located on the north side of the 

railroad tracks, between Roan and Spring streets, on the west side of the Brading – Sells Lumber Company.54  
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Figure 25. “4-6-2 Pacific steam locomotive No. 151 – Clinchfield locomotive No. 151 heads [passenger] train 37 at Johnson City, Tennessee, on August 

31, 1941. The road had five Pacifics: Class P-1 Nos. 150 – 152 (Baldwin, 1910) and P-2 Nos. 153 – 154. Note the location of the headlight, tucked 

under the smokebox. Louis A. Marre collection”.55 Note the Hannah Dosser building in the left background, as well as the dual-gauge trackage. The 

street coming in from the right is probably South Roan. 
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Figure 26. “Clinchfield Engine 151” pulling a passenger train.56 Engine #151, a Baldwin 4-6-2 Pacific, was built in June 1910, with an empty weight 

of 117½ tons. The Clinchfield employed Pacific type engines in passenger service north of Erwin, Tennessee. This engine was retired on 22 June 1951 

and scrapped. Note the “Anderson-Webb” building, this company was a wholesaler of eggs, butter and cheese. It was in business by 1949. The author 

has not found any sources that document where this building was located. 
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Figure 27. “Here is a second photo of Clinchfield 151 [pulling a passenger train] at the Okolona overpass near Johnson City. There was considerable 

camaraderie between employees of the Clinchfield Railroad and the ET&WNC. Many Clinchfield employees had worked for the smaller railroad and 

the Tweetsie was an important feeder line between the Clinchfield (now CSX) and Southern Railways which interchanged in Johnson City. The 

Clinchfield, Southern, and ET&WNC all had passenger depots in Johnson City within easy walking distance of each other.”57 
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Figure 28. “Clinchfield Engine with ET&WNC Depot in the Background, Johnson City, TN”.58 A southbound passenger train waits at the Clinchfield 

depot, with what appears to be a 4-6-2 Pacific (P-1 Class) engine at its head. The P-1 Class was retired in 1951, so this photograph appears to date from 

the late 1940s or early 1950s.  
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Figure 29. “Southbound [passenger] train 38 with Class G-2 locomotive 100 at Johnson City, Tn. Some locomotives fans said the class G-2 was 

‘quaint’. Others said it was ‘plain ugly’. Circa 1930.” Another source dates this photograph to 2 February 1935. “H.W. Painter/G.W. Best – Floyd 

Bruner Collection”.59 This train appears to be at the Clinchfield depot. Engine #100, a Baldwin 4-6-0 Ten-Wheeler, was built in December 1908, with 

an empty weight of 82 tons. Based on the available photographs, it appears that the Clinchfield employed their Ten-Wheelers in passenger service. 

This engine was retired on 1 September 1938 and scrapped. 
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Figure 30. “Clinchfield 101 Johnson City, TN 2-2-35” with a passenger train.60 Note the Summers Hardware building in the background, which 

indicates that Engine #101 is near the Clinchfield depot in Johnson City. Engine #101 (Clinchfield Class G-2), a Baldwin 4-6-0 Ten-Wheeler, was 

probably built in December 1908 or later, with an empty weight of 82 tons. Based on the available photographs, it appears that the Clinchfield employed 

their Ten-Wheelers in passenger service. This engine was retired on 1 September 1938 and scrapped.
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Clinchfield Freight Operations in Johnson City, 1909 – 1931  

 

 

 
Figure 31. “Carolina, Clinchfield & Ohio Ry.,” April 1909, in The Official Railway Equipment Register.61 
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1931. The Clinchfield Railroad, The Story of a Trade Route Across the Blue Ridge Mountains. 

“Time-Freight Trains (second Class)… These are the fast, through merchandise freight 

trains which are, of course, operated on regular schedules. Numbers 95 and 97, northbound, leave 

Spartanburg daily at 12:05 A.m. and 1:55 P.m., and arrive at Elkhorn Yard at 4:30 P.M. and 3:00 

A.M., respectively; southward, numbers 92 and 94 leave Elkhorn Yard at 3:30 P.M. and 7:00 A.M., 

and reach Spartanburg at 9:30 A.M. and 11:00 P.M., respectively. Number 97 is named ‘The 

Florida Perishable...’ 

Four regular crews are assigned to work between Elkhorn Yard and Erwin, 136 miles, using 

the large L-3 Mallet locomotives, one engine to the train. Southbound from Elkhorn Yard, these 

trains move all time-freight and empty box cars delivered by the Chesapeake & Ohio Railway, and 

pick up such loads and empties at St. Paul as are delivered by the Norfolk & Western; the train is 

filled out with time-freight loads and empties at Kingsport and Johnson City. Northbound, they 

move from Erwin all time-freight and empty box cars received from the south, and then pick up 

such cars at Johnson City and Kingsport. Loads for Johnson City and Kingsport, Speer’s Ferry, in 

connection with the Southern Railway, and St. Paul, connecting with the Norfolk & Western, are 

carried on these trains. Cars for other intermediate stations are handled by the local freight trains… 

The car limit for time-freight trains is 85 cars; thereafter, additional sections or extra trains are 

operated.”62 

 

“Local Freight Trains (Fourth Class) Thrice a week local freight service, in each direction, 

is maintained over the entire line. The local freight districts are as follows… Between Dante and 

Erwin, 101 miles. This crew uses the K-3 Mikado locomotive, and handles the usual local business 

between the two points.”63 

 

“Shifters… Yard crews are assigned as follows…  

At Johnson City:  

First crew – 7:15 A.M. to 3:16 P.M. H-3 Consolidation Engine [apparently this was 

typically engine 52] 

Second crew – 9:00 A.M. to 5:00 P.M. H-3 Consolidation Engine”64 

 

 

“Jim Goforth, the retired Chief Engineer of the Clinchfield sends the following 

information. The Clinchfield operated the class H-4 consolidation type locomotives in the Johnson 

City yard service. These engines were built by Baldwin in January, 1909 and carried numbers 300 

– 314. They had 22” x 32” cylinders, 57” drivers, 190 lbs. boiler pressure and they exerted 43,882 

lbs. tractive force. The locomotives most used in the Johnson City service were the 301, 303, 306 

and 308. They were retired in 1951 and replaced by diesel switchers in the 350 number class.”65 
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Figure 32. “Here’s the Clinchfield, Carolina & Ohio Engine 52 [in the 1930s] at what is now the corner of Spring Street and State of 

Franklin Road in downtown Johnson City…”66 Engine #52 (Clinchfield Class H-3), a Baldwin 2-8-0 Consolidation, was built in 

December 1905, with an empty weight of 89 tons. It appears that the Clinchfield employed their H-3 Consolidations primarily as switcher 

engines. This engine was converted to a 0-8-0 in 1917. It was retired on 1 September 1938 and scrapped. 
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Figure 33. “The largest single order of locomotives by the Clinchfield was for the Class H-4 numbers 300 – 14 that arrived in early 1909. These were 

the freight haulers until the first mallets arrived in 1910 and the Mikes arrived in 1919. The H-’s spent their last days in yard service in Kingsport, 

Johnson City and Erwin, TN and on work trains and local freights. The first coal train from Dante, VA to Bostic Yard, NC consisted of 25 cars to 

Johnson City, Tn and 10 cars into Bostic pulled by engine 313 in March 1909.” “Cecil Cook/Phil Laws Collection”.67 Engine #305, in this photograph, 

was a Baldwin 2-8-0 Consolidation. It was built in January 1909, with an empty weight of 100 tons. It appears that the Clinchfield employed their H-

4 Consolidations primarily as switcher, helper and local freight engines. “Jim Goforth, the retired Chief Engineer of the Clinchfield sends the following 

information. The Clinchfield operated the class H-4 consolidation type locomotives in the Johnson City yard service... The locomotives most used in 

the Johnson City service were the 301, 303, 306 and 308.” Engine #305 was the last Consolidation operated by the Clinchfield. It was sold for scrap 

and shipped out on 28 September 1953. 
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Figure 34. “Clinchfield Railway No. 305,” near the Anderson-Webb building (left background) in Johnson City.68 
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Figure 35. “Clinchfield Railway No. 308 [actually 305],” reportedly at Johnson City.  

The author has not found any sources that document where this building was located.69 
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Figure 36. “Clinchfield No. 312 Bemberg”. However, it does not appear that this photograph was taken at Bemberg; note the four 

parallel standard gauge tracks in the foreground. Perhaps, this was taken adjacent to the Carnegie Addition, on the northside of Johnson 

City.70 Engine #312 was a Baldwin 2-8-0 Consolidation (Clinchfield Class H-4). It was built in February 1909, with an empty weight 

of 100 tons. It appears that the Clinchfield employed their H-4 Class Consolidations primarily as switcher, helper and local freight 

engines. It was retired on 31 July 1951 and scrapped. 
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Figure 37. “Above is the Clinchfield 499, a very unusual locomotive, especially for the state-of-the-art Clinchfield.  It is an old, saturated 

hog that came here from somewhere else.  Most all modern steam locomotives carried a device called a superheater, that got the steam 

even hotter by passing it back thru the hot firebox gases on the way to the cylinders.  This gives a locomotive a LOT more power.  Old 

499 didn’t have that and according to Lynn Lowe, an old CC&O engineer and old friend of mine, the 499 puffed out a constant stream 

of black water everywhere she went.  I guess this picture was made on the Johnson City yard. This is a different picture from Mr. 

Crumley's books.  This one also came up missing and I reprinted it from an old copy negative.”71 Engine #499 (Clinchfield Class K-2), 

a Baldwin 2-8-2 Mikado, was built in November 1911, with an empty weight of 130½ tons. The Clinchfield purchased it in 1917. This 

engine was scrapped in March 1952. 
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25 March 1909. Johnson City Comet.  

 “First Train Load of Coal goes South. At four o’clock this morning a 25-car coal train 

passed through Johnson City on the C., C. & O. from Dante, Va., to Bostic, N.C. This is the first 

solid load of coal that has passed over the new road, but it will be an hourly occurrence henceforth.”  

 

 

5 August 1909. Johnson City Comet.  

 “Heavy Coal Train. Wednesday afternoon a train of sixty seven loaded coal cars drawn by 

one engine passed through Johnson City over the C., C. & O. from Dante, Va., to points south.”  

 

 

14 October 1909. Johnson City Comet.   

 “Train of Eighty-Eight Cars of Coal. A coal train that was a record breaker for length 

passed through Johnson City last Thursday over the C.C. & O. enroute from the Virginia coal 

fields to points south. The train contained 88 cars of coal and a cab, and was hauled by four heavy 

engines, including No. 500, which is double-strength, making the hauling power equal to five large 

engines. That is hauling coal.” 

 

 

18 November 1909.  The Johnson City Comet. 

“The C.C. & O. is employing a large force of men putting down track between their main 

line and Cherry street on Buffalo.  The object is to get the crossings put down so that the Johnson 

City Traction Company can begin laying tracks to and through the Carter addition.” 

 

 

27 January 1910. Johnson City Comet.  

  “Building Tower. The C.C. & O. railway is building a tower at Buffalo street and will 

operate gates at the Roan, Spring and Buffalo street crossings from it. This will eliminate the 

danger at these streets and is very commendable in the company.” See figures 38 and 39. 
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Figure 38. The intersection of Buffalo Street and the tracks of the E.T. & W.N.C. and Clinchfield railroads. The safety tower, built by 

the Clinchfield, is visible at the right and one of the gates is visible on the left. Note the trolley tracks running along Buffalo Street.72  
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Figure 38A. A detail of the safety tower on Buffalo Street. 
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Map 13. A map from February 1920, showing two “R.R. Signal Box on Posts,” one on the southeast corner of Buffalo and Jobe streets, and one on 

Jobe street, about half way between Spring and Roan streets. Note the Millers Brothers Company lumber warehouse in the lower right of this map.73  
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Figure 39. “Railroad Collision, at the Clinchfield and ETWNC railroad between Roan [should read Buffalo] and Spring Streets, Johnson City. A train 

hit a car, killing the driver. The railroad crossing watchman’s tower is visible just left of the boxcar in the right of the photograph”74  
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Figure 389. A detail showing a second safety tower and gate, which was about half way between 

Spring and Roan streets. The building on the right appears to be that of the Miller Brothers 

Company at Roan and Cherry streets. The building behind and to the left of the boxcar may be the 

Johnson City Coal, Ice and Cream Company. 

 

 

May 1910. The Official Railway Equipment Register. 

By May 1910, the Clinchfield operated about 248 miles of railroad, with 33 locomotives. 

“Southern Express Co. operates over this line. No Sleeping Car Co. operating over this line.”75 

 

Table 7. Summary of Freight Equipment 

Type Number Available 

Flat 233 

Box 485 

Gondola 842 

Hopper 2350 

Total 3910 
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Table 8. Freight Equipment 

The freight cars of this company are lettered ‘South & Western’ and ‘Carolina, Clinchfield & 

Ohio,’ and numbered and classified as follows: 

Kind of 

Cars. 
Numbers. 

Inside Dimensions. 
Capacity No. 

Length Width Height 

Flat 100 to 124 40 9’ 3”  60000 14 

[Flat] 125 to 127 34 9’ 3”  40000 3 

[Flat] 130 to 145 36 9’ 3”  50000 12 

[Flat] 1800 to 1899 36 9’ 3”  60000 97 

[Flat] 1900 to 1949 36 9’ 3”  50000 4 

[Flat] 3008, 3015, 3035    40000 3 

[Flat] 10000 to 10009 40 9’ 3”  100000 100 

Box 1000 to 1249 36 8’ 6” 8 60000 215 

[Box] 3000 to 3249 36 8’ 6” 8 60000 20 

[Box] 3300 to 3549 36 8’ 8 60000 250 

Gondola 2000 to 2099    60000 92 

[Gondola] 20000 to 20749 40 9’ 7”  100000 750 

Hopper 40000 to 42249 30’ 5” 9’ 8”  100000 2250 

[Hopper] 46000 to 46099 30’ 3” 9’ 5”  100000 100 

Total      3910 

 

 

11 August 1910. The Johnson City Comet. 

 “Giant Freight Engines Used by the C., C. & O. The Carolina, Clinchfield and Ohio railway 

has placed in service four of its ten mallet articulated compound locomotives. The diameters of 

their high and low pressure cylinders are, respectively, 24 and 37 inches; stroke, 32 inches; steam 

pressure, 200 pounds; diameter of driving wheels, 57 inches; weight on driving wheels, 330,000 

pounds; total weight of engines, 378,000 pounds; weight of engine and tender, 548,000 pounds; 

total length of engine and tender 75 feet. One of these engines will pull 85 fifty ton coal cars 

loaded.” 

 

 

1 September 1910. The Johnson City Comet. 

 “Largest Engine East of Mississippi. The most powerful railroad locomotive ever before 

used in road service east of the Mississippi brought a 4,500 ton coal train from the mines of the 

Clinchfield Coal Corporation at Dante, Va., through this city Tuesday over the Carolina, 

Clinchfield and Ohio railway. It is one of ten Mallet articulated compound engines recently 

received by that road and weighs 190 tons. Taken with the tender the total weight is 270 tons and 

the length is eighty feet. These great machines were made necessary in order to cheapen the haul 

on the heavy increase of coal output at the Dante mines. The engine was an object of much 

curiosity to the usual crowd of curiosity seekers. On its return it brought 100 empty cars for the 

mines.” 
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8 September 1910. Johnson City Comet.   

 “Wreck on C.C. & O. in City Limits, Yesterday about 4 p.m. a head-on collision occurred 

on the C.C. & O. between the switch engine running light and two big mallets pulling 82 coal cars 

with a pusher. The wreck occurred almost opposite the Soldiers Home and as a result the two 

ponderous 300-ton engines and the little one, the cause of the trouble, are in the ditch, badly 

damaged. The track was built around them as fast as possible and at twelve o’clock last night the 

passenger trains that were delayed by the disaster were let by.” 

 

 

2 February 1911. Johnson City Comet. 

 “Side Track Laid to Normal. The C.C. & O. has laid a side track into the [East Tennessee] 

normal [School] grounds and several car loads of supplies have already been received by the 

contractors. If the weather permits work will be started on the concrete foundations for the main 

building.” The East Tennessee Normal School, after going through a number of name changes, 

would become ETSU (East Tennessee State University) in 1963.  
 

 

8 June 1911. Johnson City Comet. 

 “Southern Trains will not Stop at Crossings. Before July 1 the Southern railway will no 

longer stop its trains at the crossing of the C., C. & O. in Carnegie and the E.T. & W.N.C. at the 

furnace. Interlocking switch signal towers are being erected and will soon be in operation. By this 

new method the Southern track will be clear and the red board will stand against the crossing 

tracks, all trains on which will have to stop and throw the switch and this block the main line of 

the Southern. While opposing trains are crossing the Southern signals are automatically changed 

by long cables indicating the block at a sufficient distance to enable all trains to stop. This will be 

a great help to the Southern in operating its passenger trains, as much time is lost in these two 

stops.” 

 

 

6 June 1912. Johnson City Comet. 

 “New Equipment for C.C. & O. Ry. – Supt. L.H. Phetteplace returned yesterday from a 

business trip to Dante, Va., and will leave on his private car Friday morning for New York City, 

where he goes on business in connection with the Dante-to-Elkhorn extension of the C., C. & O. 

Ry. 

 In an interview yesterday with a representative of the [Erwin, Tennessee] Magnet, Supt. 

Phetteplace gave some very gratifying information. He states that his company now has under 

construction at the Baldwin Locomotive Works plant five large Mallet type engines ten of which 

type are now in service on the road and are used in the heavy coal traffic. Two new Mikado type 

locomotives are also under construction in the shops of the above company. These seven new 

engines are being added to the equipment at a cost of $200,000. 

Supt. Phetteplace also gave out the information that $10,000 in new machinery will be 

installed in the company’s shops at this place [Erwin, Tennessee] at once, orders for same having 

already been placed. 

 Another gratifying statement by Mr. Phetteplace was that the net earnings of the road for 

last month were in excess of that of any month in the history of its operation, and he expressed the 

belief that when the present month closes it will eclipse even that of last month. – Erwin Magnet.” 
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Map 14. This map shows a portion of the C.C. & O. Railroad Machine Shop (lower left),  

near the W.J. Exum Furniture Factory, July 1913. This machine shop was gone by 29 August 1919.76 
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Figure 40. Love – Thomas Building. “Located at the corner of Ashe and Earnest Streets, the Love – Thomas Company was a successful wholesale dry 

goods and notions business established in January 1907. It employed six traveling salesmen who covered a five-state area. By 1914, the building was 

used by the Carolina, Clinchfield & Ohio Railway (CC&O) for its offices.”77 It appears that the left side of this image is the south-facing side of the 

building (facing Ash Street), while the long portion appears to be the east-facing side of it (facing Earnest Street). In 1926, the Clinchfield moved its 

personnel in the Love-Thomas building to Erwin, Tennessee. 
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Figure 41. This photograph looks south from the railroad tracks along Cherry Street, along Earnest Street toward Ashe Street. The Post 

Office is on the left and the Love-Thomas building is on the right.78 
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Map 15. The Carolina, Clinchfield & Ohio Railroad General Offices in the Love-Thomas building in February 

1920. See also maps 11 and 12.79 
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Figure 42. “Clinchfield Railroad Office (Ernest Street), Interior”, 1914 – 1926.80 

 

 

30 June 1915. Fifth Annual Reports – Carolina, Clinchfield and Ohio Railway…81 

 

Table 9. Extract from  

“List of New Industries Established During the Year Ending June 30, 1915.” 

Shipping Point Name Character 

Johnson City Clinchfield Ice & Coal Company Ice and ice cream 

Johnson City Johnson City Lbr. & Mf’g. Company General woodwork 

Johnson City Washington County Gas Company Gas plant 

Johnson City Union Tanning Co. Extract plant 

 

Table 10. Freight Cars* 

Owned 

and In 

Service 

Description 

Capacity 

in 

Pounds 

Year Ended 

June 30, 

1914 

Year Ended 

June 30, 

1915 

Year Ended 

June 30, 

1916 

Stock Steel underframe 60,000 25 321 321 

Box Wood 60,000 212 208 189 
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Box Steel underframe 60,000 723 723 721 

Flat Wood 40,000 6 6 5 

Flat Wood 60,000 89 85 84 

Flat Steel underframe 100,000 100 100 100 

Gondolas Steel 100,000 748 748 747 

Hoppers Steel 100,000 3,332 3,332 3,330 

Caboose Steel underframe  16 16 16 

Totals   5,251 5,539 5,513 

* Includes information from the 1916 report. 

 

 

30 March 1916. The Johnson City Comet. 

 “Big New Engines for C.C. & O. Ry. The Carolina, Clinchfield and Ohio railway has 

purchased ten of the most powerful freight pulling locomotives made, and the same are to be 

delivered at Dante, Va., at an early date, when they will be put into immediate service. These 

locomotives are of the 12-driver compound Mallet type, and it is estimated that each is capable of 

pulling 100 cars of coal from the Virginia mines to the Southern terminus of the road. These 

engines will greatly facilitate the delivery of coal from the Clinchfield operations.”  

In 1916, the Clinchfield purchased ten 2-6-6-2s from the Chicago Great Western and 

designated them as Class M-3. However, it is possible that the ten engines mentioned in this article 

were actually 2-8-8-2s, see 1 April 1916, below. 

 

 

1 April 1916. The Clinchfield Railroad, The Story of a Trade Route Across the Blue Ridge 

Mountains 

“On April 1, 1916, $300,000 five per cent notes were issued, payable in monthly 

installments of $12,500 for two years, for the purchase of ten Mallet (2-8-8-2) freight 

locomotives…”82  

 

 

6 April 1916. Johnson City Comet.  

 “The enormous increase in freight on the C.C. & O.R.R. has made it necessary to extend 

the local freight sheds; doubling their original capacity.” 

 

 

30 June 1916. Sixth Annual Reports – Carolina, Clinchfield and Ohio Railway…83 

 

Table 11. Extract from “List of New Industries Established During Year Ending June 30, 1916” 

Shipping Point Name Character 

Johnson City Tennessee Box Company Box and box shooks 

Johnson City Clinchfield Products Corporation Barium salts, chemicals, acids, etc. 

Johnson City Sanford & Treadway Lumber 

Johnson City Empire Chair Company Chairs 
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Table 12. Extract from 

“Sidings, Spurs and Additional Yard Tracks Built During the Year Ended June 30, 1916” 

Mile Post  Miles 

119.0 Commercial siding for Washington County Gas Company .072 

119.0 Commercial siding for Clinchfield Products Corporation, No. 1 .246 

119.0 Commercial siding for Clinchfield Products Corporation, No. 2 .243 

119.0 Commercial siding for Walker Coal and Coke Company .052 

119.0 Commercial siding off Carnegie spur for Johnson City Extract Works .097 

119.0 Commercial siding for Tennessee Box Company .090 

 

 

1917. Seventh Annual Reports – Carolina, Clinchfield and Ohio Railway.84 

 

Table 13. Extract from “List of New Industries Established During Year… 1917”? 

Johnson City Johnson City Mills Hosiery 

Johnson City Tennessee Silk Mills Silk 

Johnson City Southern Lumber Company Lumber 

Johnson City Keystone Table Company Tables 

Johnson City Washington County Tobacco Warehouse Tobacco 

 

Table 14. Extract from  

“Sidings, Spurs and Additional Yard Tracks Built During the Year… 1917”? 

119.0 Siding for Clinchfield Products Corporation No. 2 .066 

119.5 Storage track at Barrett .293 

120.4 Express track at Johnson City station .059 

Carnegie Siding for Sanford – Treadway Lumber Co. .119 

Carnegie Siding for Tennessee Box Co. .077 

Carnegie Siding for Empire Chair Co. .144 

Carnegie Siding for Tobacco Warehouse. .095 

 

 

June 1917. The Official Railway Equipment Register. 

 By June 1917, the Clinchfield operated about 300 miles of railroad, with 52 locomotives.  

 

Table 15. “Freight Equipment…  

lettered ‘South & Western and ‘Carolina, Clinchfield & Ohio…” 

Type Number Available 

Flat 180 

Stock 320 

Box 909 

Gondola 743 

Hopper 3823 

Total 5975 
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Table 16. Freight Equipment. 
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18 May 1918. The Johnson City Comet. 

“Consolidation of Freight Stations – to complete the plans for consolidating the two freight 

stations, the officials of the Southern railway and Carolina, Clinchfield and Ohio railway met here 

Monday. 

 Joe H. Horton was appointed agent of the consolidated stations, with Andrew Davis, 

assistant agent. Mr. Horton has for years been agent for the C.C. & O. railway and he supersedes 

Mr. Davis by reason of seniority in service, having been an agent for five years longer. 

 Eugene Pitts was appointed general yard master. It is proposed to use two yard locomotives 

with three crews, working the third one at night on the eight hour shift. 

 Effective June 1st, all inbound and outbound freight will be handled through the one station, 

the Southern railway freight depot. The Clinchfield office force will be removed to the Southern 

station building and among them will be distributed the work. 

  All employes will be taken care of either here or elsewhere along the line. At present, it is 

evident that all the station clerks and helpers will be used in this city to handle the volume of 

business.” 
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Some Clinchfield Operating Instructions in Johnson City, 1931 

 

 

“General Operating Instructions… Johnson City 

 

12. Northbound time freight trains set off on E.T. & W.N.C. transfer track or horn track at 

Barrett, and pick up from transfer tracks and from front Veneer plant track just south of Barrett 

tank. 

 Southbound trains set off on scale track and long track at Barrett and pick up on tank track. 

When setting off shove up to clear on scale track and up to point opposite north switch to scale 

track when setting off on long track. 

 Leave turntable track and chemical lead track clear. 

 On Carnegie branch all trains must come to full stop before crossing E.T. & W.N.C. 

Railway and Southern Railway tracks. Interlocking derailers have been placed on the main track 

at Carnegie Branch on each side of Southern Railway crossing at Carnegie. Levers operating these 

signals are located at Southern Railway crossing and are equipped with switch locks and must be 

thrown to danger position against Southern Railway trains before derailers on our track can be 

thrown. 

 When switching over crossings in Johnson City, not protected by signals, a member of train 

crew must be stationed at crossing to protect it. Signals at Watauga Street do not operate for trains 

using front track. Signals at Tennessee Road Crossing, Barrett, do not operate for trains using tank 

track. 

 All trains will approach and pass over track between Buffalo St., Johnson City, and south 

switch Barrett passing track and where third rail is laid near Harris’ factory under full control and 

be able to stop within half range of vision. Trains of the Southern Ry. and E.T. & W.N.C. Ry. use 

our main track in this territory without protection.”85 

 

 

“City Ordinance of the City of Johnson City 

 

 63. It shall be unlawful for any Engineer, Conductor, Agent or other person to cause or 

permit any locomotive engine, car or train of cars to stand upon any street crossing within the city 

for a longer time than four minutes at one time, which crossing shall not again be obstructed until 

all travelers awaiting upon the highway over said crossing shall have passed.  

Any person violating any of the provisions of this chapter shall be subject to a fine of not 

less than $5.00 and not more than $50.00 for each offense, unless otherwise provided. 

 No railroad, person, or other company shall move or cause to be moved, on its tracks, any 

steam or other engine, car, or train of cars, at a greater rate of speed than twelve miles per hour in 

the corporate limits of Johnson City. 

 The head end of all trains will pass over Maple Street crossing not to exceed four miles per 

hour.”86 
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Appendix A. 

Open Questions 

 

 

1. Are there any extant photographs of Mallet, or other Clinchfield, locomotives with E.T. & 

W.N.C. narrow gauge locomotives? 

 

2. Are there any other extant photographs of Mallet, or other Clinchfield, locomotives with 

industries in Johnson City? 

 

3. Are there any extant photographs of the Clinchfield machine shops in Carnegie and Johnson 

City? 

 

4. How much and what type of freight were delivered or picked up from industries in Johnson City 

through time? 

 

5. Why were the Clinchfield locomotives shown in figures 6 and 36 operating at Bemberg? When 

was this done?  
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Appendix B. 

Some Passenger Timetables of the C.C. & O. Railway, 1908 – 191787 

 

 

 
Johnson City Comet, 5 November 1908. 
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Johnson City Comet, 1 April 1909. 
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Johnson City Comet, 20 May 1909. 
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Johnson City Comet, 22 July 1909. 
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Johnson City Comet, 30 September 1909. 
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Johnson City Comet, 16 December 1909. 
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Johnson City Comet, 4 May 1911. 
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Johnson City Comet, 1 June 1911. 
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Johnson City Comet, 30 November 1911. 
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Johnson City Comet, 23 May 1912. 
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Johnson City Comet, 18 December 1913. 
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Johnson City Comet, 25 June 1914. 
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Johnson City Comet, 10 December 1914. 
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Johnson City Comet, 29 July 1915. 
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Johnson City Comet, 12 August 1915. 
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Johnson City Comet, 13 April 1916. 
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Johnson City Comet, 6 July 1916. 
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Johnson City Comet, 2 November 1916. 
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Johnson City Comet, 13 September 1917. 
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“Johnson City Passenger Schedule – 1930s”88 

 

 

“In the 1930s, passenger trains were still vibrant, but their decline had already started. Here 

is a listing of the trains that were scheduled on most days for Johnson City passengers in that era. 

There were 3 separate passenger stations by this time, all within 3 city blocks. The information 

below was procured from various schedules of the railroads, and then combined to show a general 

day within the years just prior to 1940. 

 Soon after in early 1940, the ET&WNC no longer connected to Boone NC due to a 

devastating flood. 

 In all, there were 18 trains per day in Johnson City, all between Midnight and 6:15PM, an 

average of 1 per hour. 

 

12:05AM: SOU Birmingham Special NB #36 – from Birmingham/Chattanooga/Knoxville – to 

Roanoke/Washington DC 

2:32AM: SOU Birmingham Special SB #35 – from Washington DC/Roanoke – to 

Knoxville/Chattanooga/Birmingham 

6:35AM: SOU Local #1 SB – from Bristol – to Knoxville 

7:55AM: CRR # 39 NB – from Erwin to Elkhorn City KY 

8:15AM: ET&WNC #2 EB – Johnson City to Pineola NC (with connection to Boone) 

9:15AM: SOU #261 SB – Johnson City to Embreeville 

10:00AM: SOU Local #4 NB – from Knoxville – to Bristol 

10:40AM: SOU #41 SB – from Washington DC/Roanoke – to Knoxville/Chattanooga/New 

Orleans 

10:50AM: ET&WNC #1 WB – from Boone NC to Johnson City 

10:50AM: SOU#260 NB – from Embreeville to Johnson City 

11:05AM: CRR #38 SB – from Elkhorn City KY – to Spartanburg SC 

12:10PM: SOU Memphis Special #26 NB – from Memphis/Chattanooga/Knoxville – to 

Roanoke/Washington DC 

12:35PM CRR #37 NB – from Spartanburg SC – to Elkhorn City KY 

1:00PM: ET&WNC #2 EB – Johnson City to Boone NC 

4:00PM: ET&WNC #3 WB – Pineola to Johnson City (with connection from Boone) 

5:20PM: SOU Memphis Special #25 SB – from Washington DC/Chattanooga/Knoxville – to 

Roanoke/Washington DC 

5:35PM: SOU #42 NB – from New Orleans/Chattanooga/Knoxville – to Roanoke/Washington DC 

6:15PM: CRR #36 SB – from Elkhorn City to Erwin”  
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